STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Spartanburg County  
Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

**ORIGINAL  
RECEIVED  
MAY 19 2018  
SC SUPREME COURT**

MICHAEL GONZALES,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-001553

\_\_\_\_\_  
BRIEF OF PETITIONER  
\_\_\_\_\_

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER.

## ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding Petitioner was required to show that trial counsel must recognize an actual conflict of interest in order to show an adverse effect flowing from the actual conflict of interest?

II. If Petitioner is required to show that trial counsel recognized an actual conflict of interest in order to show an adverse effect flowing from the actual conflict of interest, did the Court of Appeals err in finding Petitioner failed to make such a showing where the undisputed evidence showed trial counsel represented both Petitioner and Deno Perez, Petitioner's stepfather, in drug cases, Perez paid trial counsel to represent Petitioner, and law enforcement sought Petitioner's cooperation in its investigation against Perez?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 8, 2002, a Spartanburg County grand jury indicted Petitioner for trafficking in methamphetamine of 400 grams or more. App. 766. Petitioner was tried on July 22, 2002, before the Honorable Gary E. Clary and a jury. Ricky K. Harris represented Petitioner. App. 1. The jury found Petitioner guilty. App. 545, lines 16-20. On July 25, 2002, Judge Clary sentenced Petitioner to thirty years' imprisonment. App. 549; App. 565 lines 12-17. Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal, and Tara D. Shurling represented Petitioner. The Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's conviction and sentence. State v. Michael Gonzales, Op. No. 3842 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed July 6, 2004). This Court denied his petition for writ of certiorari. Remittitur was issued on March 13, 2006. App. 741.

On May 11, 2006, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR), which was amended on April 17, 2007. App. 566 – 573; App. 579. Shurling represented Petitioner, and S. Prentiss Counts and Suzanne H. White represented the state. App. 582. Evidentiary hearings were held before the Honorable Roger Couch on September 20, 2007, November 8, 2008, and January 11, 2010. App. 582; App. 669; App. 722. On February 4, 2011, Judge Couch denied relief. App. 740-748. On February 22, 2011, Petitioner moved the court to alter or amend its judgment pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCR. App. 754-760. On April 5, 2011, Judge Couch's order denied Petitioner's motion. App. 764-765.

Petitioner filed a petition for writ of certiorari on October 10, 2011, in this Court. The state filed its return on February 24, 2012. This Court transferred the case to the Court of Appeals pursuant to Rule 243(l), SCACR. On September 5, 2013, the Honorable Paul E. Short, Jr., the Honorable H. Bruce Williams, and the Honorable Paula H. Thomas granted the petition for writ of certiorari. Briefing followed, and oral argument was held on December 8, 2014, before the

Honorable Aphrodite K. Konduros, the Honorable Thomas E. Huff, and the Honorable Paul E. Short, Jr. On May 13, 2015, the Court of Appeals issued a divided decision affirming the PCR court's denial of relief. Judge Short dissented. Supp. App. 1-22; Gonzales v. State, 412 S.C. 478, 772 S.E.2d 557 (Ct. App. 2015). Specifically, three judges found that trial counsel labored under an actual conflict of interest during his representation of Petitioner. However, two judges held that "because trial counsel did not recognize the conflict [Petitioner] cannot demonstrate the conflict affected trial counsel's performance." Petitioner sought rehearing of this portion of the majority opinion in his petition for rehearing on May 28, 2015. Supp. App. 22-34. Rehearing was denied on June 18, 2015. Supp. App. 35.

On July 20, 2015, Petitioner filed a petition for writ of certiorari raising two issues. On March 29, 2016, this Court granted the petition and ordered briefing on the issues presented. Pursuant to this Court's order, this brief follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On February 5, 2001, Deno Perez hired Ricky Harris to represent him on several misdemeanor drug charges in the Spartanburg County Magistrate's Court. App. 612, ll. 15-17. Lucy Santana, who described herself as a close personal friend of Perez, consulted with Harris on Perez's behalf prior to his engagement. App. 612, l. 23 - App. 613, l. 4. Harris accepted representation and Santana paid the fee. App. 613, ll. 6-7. Harris successfully represented Perez at trial a few months later. App. 613, ll. 7-9.

In January of 2002, Petitioner was arrested on marijuana charges. App. 625, ll. 11-14. On January 5, 2002, Petitioner's mother, the above-mentioned Lucy Santana, hired Harris to represent Petitioner on the charges. App. 601, lines 1-12. She paid Harris \$25,000 in cash. App. 602 ll. 5-8. At the time, Petitioner was seventeen-years old. App. 685, ll. 23-25. Petitioner and his mother had been living with Perez for years. App. 686, ll. 6-16. In fact, Perez had been like a father to Petitioner. App. 686 ll. 19-20. When Petitioner was a very young teenager, Perez recruited Petitioner into his drug business. App. 686, ll. 21-23. While living at "The Campout" in Campobello, Petitioner's primary jobs were to help unload huge loads of marijuana and guard them. App. 687, ll. 4-11. On the night Petitioner was arrested, he was delivering the marijuana to Perez and Perez's boss. App. 687, l. 21 - App. 688, l. 1.

On April 15, 2002, Perez was arrested for trafficking marijuana in excess of one thousand pounds. App. 613, ll. 12-15. Santana again met with Harris and asked him to meet with Perez concerning representation. App. 613, ll. 19-20. Harris met with Perez and undertook representation of him on the marijuana charges in April of 2002. Shortly after this visit, Santana made arrangements to pay Harris' fees for representing Perez. App. 614, ll. 1-5.

On June 3, 2002, Petitioner was arrested on charges of trafficking methamphetamine. App. 766-767. Again, Harris was retained to represent Petitioner. App. 602, ll. 13-14. Deno Perez made the first payment of \$3,220 to Harris to represent Petitioner on the charges. App. 602, l. 24 – App. 603, l. 1. This payment was from Perez’s proceeds relating to a forfeiture action in which Harris had represented Perez. App. 605, ll. 4-15. The remaining \$22,000 was paid on June 6, 2002, by check drawn on the account of J&M Contractors, who may have been the employer of Perez. App. 603, ll. 2 – 8. While Petitioner was incarcerated pending trial, he asked Harris if he could do anything to help negotiate a better deal for him. App. 690, l. 25 – App. 691, l. 3. Petitioner informed Harris that he had some information about Perez. App. 691, ll. 5-7. At the mention of Perez’s name, Harris said “he couldn’t hear this.” App. 691, ll. 8-9.

Petitioner went to trial on the methamphetamine charges on July 22, 2002, with Harris as his attorney. App. 1-565. Petitioner was convicted of the charges. App. 545. Shurling then represented Petitioner on his direct appeal. App. 586, ll. 22-23. An attorney from the United States Attorney’s Office approached Shurling regarding Petitioner cooperating with the federal authorities against Perez. App. 587, ll. 11-6. Although Petitioner initially denied any knowledge of Perez’s affairs to Shurling, he eventually agreed, in summer 2003, to provide the government with substantial information in exchange for complete protection. App. 588, ll. 16-17; App. 588, l. 20 - App. 589, l. 24. In other words, when Petitioner had conflict-free counsel, he agreed to provide assistance to the prosecuting authorities against Perez.

While Shurling was representing Petitioner on his appeal from his methamphetamine conviction, Harris continued to represent Petitioner on his pending marijuana charges and Perez on his pending marijuana charges. Eventually, the federal authorities took over Perez’s case. App. 625, l. 25 – App. 626, l. 8. On May 15, 2003, Harris received a call from the federal prosecutor who

informed Harris he intended to ask the court to disqualify Harris on the Perez case due to a conflict of interest and that Harris was a potential witness. App. 627, ll. 10-16. According to the federal prosecutor, the government's theory was that Perez and Petitioner were co-conspirators. App. 627, ll. 22-24. Harris learned that Petitioner had provided a statement against Perez. App. 635, ll. 9-10. Harris moved to be relieved from representation of Perez. App. 629, ll. 5-7.

On July 16, 2004, over a year after learning of the government's position concerning the conflict of interest, Harris moved to be relieved from representing Petitioner on the marijuana charges. App. 639, l. 24 – App. 640, l. 7. Harris moved to be relieved based upon an “irreconcilable conflict of interest” due to “certain actions undertaken by [Petitioner] in his own behalf.” App. 640, ll. 8-12. When asked to what actions undertaken by Petitioner he referred, Harris responded “engaging in negotiations and, and other – negotiation, interviews, et cetera, with whoever it was.” App. 640, ll. 13-16.

Thereafter, Shurling was appointed to represent Petitioner on the marijuana charges. App. 591, ll. 1-8. Shurling negotiated a five-year concurrent sentence on a reduced charge relating to the pending marijuana charges, which Petitioner accepted. App. 591, ll. 11-15.

Although Harris had been paid fees to represent Petitioner and Perez in drug cases and the fees, or at the very least a portion of the fees, for both cases had been paid by Santana and a portion of the fees for Petitioner were paid by Perez, Harris did not consider whether he had a conflict of interest in representing Petitioner and Perez. App. 615, ll. 9-18. Harris admitted that he did not explore any connection between Perez and Petitioner, but maybe should have. App. 616, ll. 11-13. According to Harris, if a conflict existed, he did not recognize it at the time. App. 618, ll. 9-10. Harris denied understanding that Perez, Santana, and Petitioner were part of a family unit. App. 605, ll. 19-21. Harris admitted that when he began representing Petitioner on the methamphetamine

charges, he knew that Santana was his mother and that Perez “was either Lucy Santana’s boyfriend or friend or ex-boyfriend or friend.” App. 608, ll. 21-25. Harris testified that after the United States Attorney alleged a conflict, he asked Petitioner about his relationship with Perez and Petitioner denied any relationship. App. 651, ll. 9-12. During the PCR hearing, Harris testified that if law enforcement ever consulted with him concerning Petitioner providing information against Perez, he did not have a record of it or “it was so thinly veiled that [he] failed to appreciate it.” App. 616, l. 22 – App. 617, l. 1. Harris admitted that he did not have any conversations with law enforcement concerning Petitioner working with them or providing them with any information in an effort to earn a favorable position. App. 657, l. 21 – App. 658, l. 1.

During the PCR hearing, Petitioner called Lieutenant Steve Cooper with the Spartanburg Sheriff’s Department to testify. App. 725, ll. 15-16. Lt. Cooper testified that Perez was a person of interest to the narcotics and violent crimes divisions at the time of Petitioner’s original arrest. App. 728, ll. 20-25. Both of those divisions were interested in turning Petitioner as a state’s witness. App. 729, ll. 4-7. Harris’ representation of both Petitioner and Perez hampered the ability of law enforcement to secure Petitioner’s cooperation against Perez. App. 729, ll. 15-19. Lt. Cooper further testified that based on the information Petitioner provided, the Department would have been willing to ask the solicitor’s office to offer Petitioner a better deal. App. 732, ll. 16-20.

## ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeals erred in holding Petitioner was required to show that trial counsel must recognize an actual conflict of interest in order to show an adverse effect flowing from the actual conflict of interest.

The Court of Appeals unanimously held that trial counsel labored under an actual conflict of interest during his representation of Petitioner. However, according to two judges, Petitioner failed to prove that trial counsel's conflict of interest adversely affected his performance because Petitioner could not show trial counsel recognized the conflict. In other words, the Court of Appeals established a rule that in order for a PCR applicant to show that an actual conflict of interest adversely affected trial counsel's performance, the PCR applicant must demonstrate that trial counsel *recognized* the existence of the conflict.<sup>1</sup> Neither Petitioner nor the state challenged the Court of Appeals' determination that trial counsel labored under an actual conflict of interest; however, a discussion of the general law governing conflicts of interest is informative to the ultimate issue before this Court – whether a PCR applicant must show that trial counsel *recognized* the conflict in order to demonstrate the conflict adversely affected trial counsel's performance.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees criminal defendants the right to conflict-free counsel. Mickens v. Taylor, 535 U.S. 162, 168 (2002); Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S. 335, 348 (1980). In post-conviction proceedings, a criminal defendant must show his counsel had an actual conflict of interest that adversely affected his performance in representing him. Cuyler, 446 U.S. at 348; see also Jordan v. State, 406 S.C. 443, 449, 752 S.E.2d 538, 541 (2013);

---

<sup>1</sup> Petitioner is unaware of any other South Carolina case (or any other state or federal case) requiring the attorney *recognize* the conflict in order for the client to prevail on a Sixth Amendment claim.

Staggs v. State, 372 S.C. 549, 551, 643 S.E.2d 690, 691 (2007); Fuller v. State, 347 S.C. 630, 633, 557 S.E.2d 664, 665 (2001); Thomas v. State, 346 S.C. 140, 142, 551 S.E.2d 254, 255 (2001); Jackson v. State, 329 S.C. 345, 354, 495 S.E.2d 768, 773 (1998); Duncan v. State, 281 S.C. 435, 438, 315 S.E.2d 809, 811 (1984). Where an actual conflict of interest exists, Petitioner need not show prejudice resulting from that conflict. Cuyler, 446 U.S. at 348-350; Duncan, 281 S.C. at 438, 315 S.E.2d at 811. This Court explained that an actual conflict of interest occurs:

When a defense attorney places himself in a situation inherently conducive to divided loyalties.... If a defense attorney owes duties to a party whose interests are adverse to those of the defendant, then an actual conflict exists. The interests of the other client and the defendant are sufficiently adverse if it is shown that the attorney owes a duty to the defendant to take some action that could be detrimental to his other client.

Duncan, 281 S.C. at 437-438, 315 S.E.2d at 810-811 (quoting Zuck v. Alabama, 588 F.2d 436, 439 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1979)). The rationale of the test is rooted in the “belief that the Sixth Amendment requires that a defendant may not be represented by counsel who might be tempted to dampen the ardor of his defense in order to placate his other client.... This possibility is sufficient to constitute an actual conflict as a matter of law.” State v. Gregory, 364 S.C. 150, 153, 612 S.E.2d 449, 450-451 (2005) (quoting Zuck, 588 F.2d at 440).

In matters concerning the Sixth Amendment right to counsel, the standard used to evaluate the conduct of counsel is an objective one. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). There is no reason to impose a different standard when the matter concerns a defendant’s right to conflict-free counsel under the Sixth Amendment. “Defense counsel have an ethical obligation to avoid conflicting representations and to advise the court promptly when a conflict of interest arises during the course of trial.” Cuyler, 446 U.S. at 346.<sup>2</sup> However, “[t]he existence of an actual

---

<sup>2</sup>See Rule 1.7, RPC, Rule 407, SCACR; Rule 1.8(f), RPC, Rule 407, SCACR.

conflict cannot be governed solely by the perceptions of the attorney; rather, the court itself must examine the record to discern whether the attorney's behavior seems to have been influenced by the suggested conflict." Sanders v. Ratelle, 21 F.3d 1446, 1452 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1994). "Human self-perception regarding one's own motives for particular actions in difficult circumstances is too faulty to be relied upon, even if the individual reporting is telling the truth as he perceives it." United States v. Shwayder, 312 F.3d 1109, 1119 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2002). "[A]fter-the-fact testimony by a lawyer who was precluded by a conflict of interest from pursuing a strategy or tactic is not helpful. Even the most candid persons may be able to convince themselves that they actually would not have used that strategy or tactic anyway, when the alternative is a confession of ineffective assistance resulting from ethical limitations." United States v. Malpiedi, 62 F.3d 465, 470 (2<sup>nd</sup> Cir. 1995). Psychological research compels using an objective standard. "[R]esearch demonstrates that ... a set of motivations causes systematic deviations from full ethicality and professional responsibility when conflicts of interest are present." Tigran W. Eldred, The Psychology of Conflicts of Interest in Criminal Cases, 58 U. Kan. L. Rev. 43, 71 (Oct. 2009). According to empirical research, "most lawyers – even those who are acting with the best intentions – are unable consciously to identify many conflicts that exist or to appreciate the corrosive effects that such conflicts may have on decision making." Id. at 48. In fact, "lawyers systematically understate both the existence of conflicts and their deleterious effects." Id.

A review of conflict cases throughout the country supports the use of an *objective* standard for evaluating whether the conflict adversely affected the conflicted counsel's performance. Although the Supreme Court has not defined the elements of the "adverse effects" test, most federal circuits that have examined the issue require the defendant prove (1) existence of some plausible alternative defense strategy or tactic that might have been pursued; and (2) that the alternative

strategy or tactic was inherently in conflict with or not undertaken due to the attorney's other interests or loyalties. United States v. Infante, 404 F.3d 376, 392-393 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2005); United States v. Sotomayor-Vazquez, 249 F.3d 1, 15 (1<sup>st</sup> Cir. 2001); Hess v. Mazurkiewicz, 135 F.3d 905, 910 (3d Cir. 1998); United States v. Levy, 25 F.3d 146, 157 (2<sup>nd</sup> Cir. 1994); United States v. Fahey, 769 F.2d 829, 836 (1<sup>st</sup> Cir. 1985). Other circuits have included the additional requirement that a defendant show the alternative strategy was objectively reasonable under the facts and circumstances of the case. See e.g., Covey v. United States, 377 F.3d 903, 908 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2004); Rubin v. Gee, 292 F.3d 396, 404 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2002); Freund v. Butterworth, 165 F.3d 839, 860 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1999).

Under these formulae, the defendant need not show that the plausible alternative would necessarily have been successful if it had been used, but only "that it possessed sufficient substance to be a viable alternative." Fahey, 769 F.2d at 836; see also Winkler v. Keane, 7 F.3d 304, 309 (2<sup>nd</sup> Cir. 1993); United States v. Gambino, 864 F.2d 1064, 1071 (3<sup>rd</sup> Cir. 1988); United States v. Rodrigues, 347 F.3d 818, 823 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2003). As one court has explained:

This is not a test that requires a defendant to show that the alternative strategy or tactic not adopted by a conflicted counsel was reasonable, that the lapse in representation affected the outcome of the trial, or even that, but for the conflict, counsel's conduct of the trial would have been different. Rather, it is enough to show that a conflict existed that "was inherently in conflict with" a plausible line of defense or attack on the prosecution's case. Once such a showing is made, Strickland's "fairly rigid" presumption of prejudice applies.

Malpiedi, 62 F.3d at 469. "[A] defendant has a right to an attorney who can make strategic and tactical choices free from any conflict of interest." Malpiedi, 62 F.3d at 469. An attorney whose ethical obligations or own compelling self-interests may prevent him or her from pursuing a strategy or tactic "is hardly an objective judge of whether that strategy or tactic is sound trial practice." Id. Upon a showing that counsel was influenced in his basic strategies by a

conflicting interest under this standard, it is of no moment if un-conflicted, objectively reasonable counsel might have made precisely the same tactical decisions. Thomas v. Folz, 818 F.2d 476, 483 (6th Cir. 1987); Hall v. United States, 371 F.3d 969, 974 (7th Cir. 2004).

Two cases from the Fourth Circuit best illustrate the point. In United States v. Swartz, 975 F.2d 1042, 1046-1048 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1992), the Fourth Circuit found an attorney had an actual conflict of interest that adversely affected his performance despite the attorney's statement that he had no conflict of interest. In fact, the judge informed the attorney, "I think you are – you've got a serious conflict of interest." However, the attorney denied any conflict. Id. at 1049. The Fourth Circuit based its findings of the actual conflict and its adverse effect on the attorney's performance "[f]or largely the same reasons." Id. at 1048. The court explained that "[w]hen the attorney is actively engaged in legal representation which requires him to account to two masters, an actual conflict exists when it can be shown that he took action on behalf of one. The effect of his action of necessity will adversely affect the appropriate defense of another." Id. (internal quotation omitted).

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