RECEIVED

JUN 22 2016

SC SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF APPEALS
Appeal From Spartanburg County
The Honorable Gary E. Clary, Trial Judge
The Honorable Roger L. Couch, Post-Conviction Relief Judge

Opinion No. 5317 (S.C. Ct. App. filed May 13, 2015)

Appellate Case No. 2015-001553

Michael Gonzales,.....Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,.....Respondent.

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

ALICIA OLIVE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 102089

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. The court of appeals did not err in holding Petitioner is required to show that trial counsel must recognize an actual conflict of interest in order to show an adverse effect flowing from that conflict.

The court of appeals was correct in finding Petitioner must show trial counsel recognized an actual conflict of interest in order to then show an adverse effect flowed from that alleged conflict.

Counsel was retained to represent Petitioner in January 2002 on the charge of trafficking marijuana and then again in June 2002 on the charge at issue in this case— trafficking methamphetamine. (App. p. 602). Counsel was retained originally by Petitioner's mother, Lucy Santana, who paid the \$25,000 fee for the trafficking in marijuana charge sometime around January 25, 2002. (App. pp. 601-02; p. 606). Counsel received a subsequent \$25,000 fee for the trafficking in methamphetamine charge, paid partially by a personal check from Dino Perez. (App. pp. 602-03). Counsel's knowledge as to the relationship between Petitioner and Perez at the time of being retained was that Lucy Santana was Petitioner's mother and Perez was her friend, boyfriend, or ex-boyfriend. (App. p. 608; p. 610). Counsel had previously represented Perez on several misdemeanor drug charges in magistrate's court on February 5, 2001. (App. p. 612). Counsel was also retained to represent Perez in April 2002 after he and two other individuals unknown to counsel were arrested for trafficking more than 1,000 pounds of marijuana. (App. p. 613). Petitioner's trial for trafficking methamphetamine began July 22, 2002, after which he was found guilty. (App. p. 1; p. 615).

At the post-conviction relief hearing, Petitioner testified his mother lived with Perez for years, and that Perez had been like a father to him. (App. p. 686). Petitioner testified he was

thirteen years old when he first met Perez. (App. p. 695). Petitioner testified that he was arrested on these charges when he was seventeen years old. (App. p. 685). Petitioner testified he told Counsel, while he was at the Spartanburg County jail, that he had information about Perez that could perhaps help him on the charges, but Counsel told him that he could not hear the information. (App. p. 691). Petitioner claimed that if Counsel had talked with him about cooperating with police to get a deal before Perez was indicted (or after Perez was arrested and indicted), Petitioner would also have cooperated with authorities and would have wanted his own attorney. (App. p. 693).

Petitioner testified Counsel came to him while he was in the South Carolina Department of Corrections after his conviction in this case and discussed whether Petitioner would sign a form waiving any potential conflict of interest. (App. p. 689). Petitioner acknowledged that when Counsel and another person (subsequently identified as Terry Haselden, Esquire) came to see him at that time, he denied there was any connection between himself and Perez. (App. pp. 698-99). Petitioner acknowledged the conflicting statements of his connection to Perez, but claimed he lied to Counsel because previously Counsel did not want to listen to him. (App. p. 699). Petitioner also claimed the reason he lied was because he was scared of Perez. (App. p. 702).

Counsel testified he did not consider there was a conflict of interest in representing Petitioner and Perez because, to his knowledge, the only thing they had in common was Lucy Santana. (App. p. 616). Counsel testified it is not uncommon in his experience for friends or individuals related to each other to wind up in the same kind of trouble, but that did not mean that it was the same trouble. (App. p. 616). Counsel also testified he had no recollection or

record of being approached by law enforcement regarding the possibility of Petitioner testifying against Perez. (App. p. 616). Furthermore, Counsel testified Petitioner never attempted to discuss with him any information he had about Perez. (App.p.617). Counsel also testified he was never aware of any connection between Petitioner's marijuana trafficking case and Perez's marijuana trafficking case. (App. p. 623). In fact, Counsel testified he was led to believe they were two separate unrelated occurrences based on the discovery materials. (App. p. 623). Counsel testified that at no time during his representation of Petitioner (or since that time), did Petitioner indicate he knew of Perez's drug activities, was part of those activities, or was part of any drug activity at all. (App. p. 633). Furthermore, Counsel testified Petitioner had never given him any indication that he was part of any drug activity of Perez, and that he consistently denied he "was part of any drug activity at all." (App. p. 633, lines 1-6). Counsel testified that because Petitioner not only denied culpability but gave "no indication whatsoever" that he had "anything of value to offer to barter with," there was nothing to barter with in seeking a potential plea negotiation. (App. p. 633, lines 8-14).

Counsel testified the first time he heard of any potential conflict was following his demand for full discovery in the Perez case from Assistant United States' Attorney (AUSA) Johnson.¹ (App.pp.626-27). Counsel testified his conversation with AUSA Johnson took place on May 15, 2003, almost one year after Petitioner's conviction for trafficking methamphetamine. (App.p.630). At that time, Counsel testified the United States' Attorney's office threatened him, forced him to withdraw from representing Perez, and forced him to acknowledge a conflict in his

¹ Counsel testified he visited Petitioner after he was sent to prison and brought a local attorney (Terry Haselden) with him on this visit. Counsel testified Petitioner denied any connection with Perez. (App.pp.650-52; pp.708-09).

representing Perez because of the office's theory of a conspiracy between Petitioner and Perez. (App. pp. 626-27). Counsel testified that sometime after this conversation, he was provided with information to indicate Petitioner had apparently given statements to the authorities against Perez. (App. p. 637). Counsel testified that he then consulted with ethics professionals, colleagues, and other members of the bar regarding the circumstances. (App. p. 650). Counsel testified he ultimately filed a formal motion to be relieved in Petitioner's trafficking marijuana case on July 16, 2004, based predominately on the conversation with AUSA Johnson and subsequent information received from Petitioner's PCR Counsel from 2003 through that date. (App. pp. 640-41). Counsel testified his representation of Petitioner on the trafficking methamphetamine charge and Perez on the trafficking marijuana charge did not affect his representation of Petitioner at trial in any way. (App. p. 653). Counsel reiterated that, during Petitioner's trial for trafficking methamphetamine, he was not aware of a connection between Perez and Petitioner. (App. p. 652). Counsel testified that had Petitioner, or any other client in a similar situation, said they had information that could be useful to their case in regards to cooperation, Counsel would have acted on that. (App. p. 708).

Terry Haselden confirmed he accompanied Counsel to the South Carolina Department of Corrections to interview Petitioner, and corroborated Counsel's testimony. (App. p. 663-64).

Haselden explained what occurred at this meeting:

[Counsel] advised [Petitioner] that it had been alleged that there might possibly be some sort of connection between him and [Counsel]'s other client. [Petitioner] was adamant that there was no connection of any shape or form between the two, that he knew nothing about Mr. Perez's involvement in any criminal activity, and they just, you know, traveled in different circles as far as that was concerned.

[Counsel] asked him this several times. I think I also asked him as well and he was repeatedly adamant that there was no connection between the two of them.

(App.p.664).

In denying the application for post-conviction relief, the PCR judge found both Counsel's and Haselden's testimony to be credible. (App. p.745). The court also found it credible that Petitioner, his mother, and Perez never informed Counsel that their cases were related in any way or that Petitioner and Perez were involved in a conspiracy to traffick drugs. (App. p. 745). The PCR judge also heard independent testimony from Haselden that supported Counsel's testimony that Petitioner denied any involvement with or knowledge of Perez's drug activities. Additionally, the fact that Petitioner's PCR Counsel herself acknowledged that Petitioner initially denied knowledge to her supported Counsel's testimony that Petitioner never disclosed any connection to him prior to, during, or after the trial for trafficking methamphetamine. (App. p. 745). The PCR judge also found the consistency of the Petitioner's protestations to Counsel, impartial observers, and even Petitioner's own PCR Counsel that Petitioner knew nothing of Perez's activities or was involved in his activities, supported Counsel's belief that he was not operating under a conflict of interest. (App. p. 745).

The court of appeals affirmed the PCR judge's denial of relief. The court of appeals found that, while Counsel should have recognized a conflict of interest may have existed, because they were "bound by the PCR court's finding trial counsel's testimony credible that he did not recognize the conflict, we must find trial counsel's conflict did not adversely affect his performance." The court of appeals concluded that, "because trial counsel did not know of the conflict, we cannot find the conflict was the reason he did not pursue a deal in the methamphetamine trafficking case in return for information about Perez."

For an applicant to be granted PCR as a result of ineffective assistance of counsel, he must show both: (1) that his counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms, and (2) that he was prejudiced by his counsel's ineffective performance. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 383, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006). "A fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689. "Because of the difficulties inherent in making the evaluation, a court must indulge a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." Id. "Thus, a court deciding an actual ineffectiveness claim must judge the reasonableness of counsel's challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel's conduct." Id. at 690. "To establish a violation of the Sixth Amendment right to effective counsel due to a conflict of interest arising from multiple representations, a defendant who did not object at trial must show an actual conflict of interest adversely affected his attorney's performance." Thomas v. State, 346 S.C. 140, 143, 551 S.E.2d 254, 256 (2001) (citing Jackson v. State, 329 S.C. 345, 495 S.E.2d 768 (1998); Duncan v. State, 281 S.C. 435, 315 S.E.2d 809 (1984)). "[A] defendant must establish that an actual conflict of interest adversely affected his lawyer's performance." Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S. at 350. Once an actual conflict of interest is shown, applicant does not have to demonstrate prejudice. Thomas, 346 S.C. 140, 551 S.E.2d 254.

Contrary to Petitioner's assertions, the court of appeals did not find that invariably and in every case a trial attorney must recognize a conflict of interest in order for a PCR applicant to

demonstrate error. Rather, the court of appeals recognized in its opinion that it was constrained by the PCR judge's finding in this case that Counsel was credible in determining he was not aware of a conflict of interest at the time he represented Petitioner on the trafficking methamphetamine charge. Counsel consistently testified that Petitioner never told him of any relationship between his charges and Perez's charges during the pendency of his representation on the trafficking methamphetamine charge. Counsel testified, in fact, that when they met in the Department of Corrections several months after his conviction, Petitioner continued to deny the connection and even affirmatively stated he had no connection to Perez. Haselden confirmed Petitioner "was adamant that there was no connection of any shape or form between the two, that he knew nothing about Mr. Perez's involvement in any criminal activity, and they just, you know, traveled in different circles as far as that was concerned." The PCR judge found their testimony was credible. See Drayton v. Evatt, 312 S.C. 4, 13, 430 S.E.2d 517, 522 (1993) (finding great deference is given to the PCR judge's findings on the credibility of witnesses); see also Kollé v. State, 386 S.C. 578, 593, 690 S.E.2d 73, 81 (2010) (Pleicones, J., concurring) (stating the appellate court's deference to the PCR court's credibility findings is so great that it required the court to uphold the PCR court's determination even when the trial record unequivocally contradicted the testimony at the PCR hearing); Menne v. Keowee Key Prop. Owners' Ass'n, Inc., 368 S.C. 557, 567, 629 S.E.2d 690, 696 (Ct. App. 2006) ("Because the appellate court lacks the opportunity for direct observation of the witnesses, it should accord great deference to trial court findings where matters of credibility are involved."). Here, because the PCR judge found Counsel's testimony was credible, and Petitioner's testimony was not credible, the PCR judge believed Counsel was not aware of any potential conflict of interest in

this particular case when it went to trial.

Although an attorney's overlapping representation of two clients can affect representation when an actual conflict of interest is created, the mere fact that overlapping representation exists is insufficient to create a Sixth Amendment violation. United States v. Taft, 221 Fed. Appx. 277, 279 (4th Cir. 2007) (holding that defendant's right to effective counsel was not violated when former trial counsel also represented a government witness for a short overlapping period). “[U]ntil a defendant shows that his counsel actively represented conflicting interests, he has not established the constitutional predicate for his claim of ineffective assistance.” Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S. 335, 350, 100 S. Ct. 1708, 1719 (1980).

“Counsel’s actions are usually based, quite properly, on informed strategic choices made by the defendant and on information supplied by the defendant.” Barnes v. Thompson, 58 F.3d 971, 979 (4th Cir. 1995) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690-91, 104 S. Ct. at 2066). In Barnes, the court found that Counsel might rely on the truthfulness of his client and others he interviews when making strategic trial and defense decisions. Id. at 979-80. The United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit found no deficient performance when the client told his attorney about his good childhood, which led the attorney to not seek a psychiatric evaluation, but the client later changed his story. See Clanton v. Bair, 826 F.2d 1354 (1987) (finding no deficiency when the attorney had no reason to doubt his client’s truthfulness). Counsel testified he discussed any possible deals with the Solicitor on the case and discussed the case thoroughly with his client. Counsel testified Petitioner’s position prior to and during his trial was that he was not guilty. (App. p. 661). Counsel testified Petitioner never indicated to Counsel a willingness to plead guilty to anything, nor did he indicate he had any information that would be useful in

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